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          1  COMMITTEE ON GOVERNMENTAL OPERATIONS

          2                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Good afternoon.

          3  Today's hearing is on Intro. 238, a local law

          4  relating to the qualifications for the office of

          5  City Council member.

          6                 My name is Bill Perkins. I'm the

          7  Chairman of this Committee, the Governmental

          8  Operations Committee, and I'm going to begin my

          9  opening statement in an unusual way. Rather than

         10  first tell you what the bill does, I'm going to tell

         11  you what it doesn't do.

         12                 Number one, it does not repeal the

         13  1993 term limit law that applies to Council Members.

         14                 Number two, it does not change

         15  Chapter 50 of the Charter that concerns term limits.

         16                 Number three, it does not apply to an

         17  amendment that requires a referendum.

         18                 And it does not, finally, change the

         19  length of a two-year term.

         20                 So, what does it do? And why was it

         21  introduced? The New York City term limit law simply

         22  limits elected officials to two terms in office, and

         23  as noted in the materials and support of the

         24  referendum, that meant eight years.

         25                 However, with regard to Council
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          2  members, an anomaly exists in the law that arises

          3  every 20 years and effectively limits two classes of

          4  Council members through six years of service.

          5                 Forgive me if this explanation seems

          6  a little complicated, but this anomaly was never

          7  explained to the voters when the term limit law was

          8  prevented, and, in fact, all of the literature, the

          9  ballot petition and the articulated public policy in

         10  the law itself related to an eight-year term.

         11                 I do not wish to complicate things,

         12  but I think it is very important to understand why

         13  there are two consecutive two-year terms every 20

         14  years, and why it results in a six-year term limit

         15  for some members.

         16                 The six-year term limit arises

         17  because of the interaction between two local

         18  requirements, the scheduling of elections on a

         19  four-year cycle, together with the needs to promptly

         20  redraw Council district lines based on the ten-year

         21  census creates this anomaly. In order to allow for

         22  the timely redrawing of Council districts, while

         23  also keeping the Council on the same elected cycle

         24  as Citywide and borough elections, two-year terms

         25  were put in place by the 1989 Charter Revision
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          2  Commission.

          3                 Given a maximum of two consecutive

          4  terms, a situation occurs whereby certain classes of

          5  elected Council members who proceed or follow a

          6  two-year term with a four-year term will be limited

          7  to six years of service. Unless Intro. 238 is

          8  enacted into law, this anomaly will occur once every

          9  20 years.

         10                 The situation creates an inequity to

         11  those districts represented by Council Members

         12  limited to six years of the benefits that evolve

         13  through the seniority process inherent in a

         14  legislative system. Thus, Intro. Number 238 advances

         15  a technical amendment to Section 25 of the Charter

         16  that relates to the two-year terms of Council

         17  members and mandates that the two consecutive

         18  two-year terms in 2001 and 2003, and every 20 years

         19  thereafter, be considered one full four-year term

         20  for Section 1138 term limit purposes. Therefore, two

         21  consecutive terms would equal eight years for

         22  Council members and be consistent with other elected

         23  officials.

         24                 Intro. No. 238 also clarifies another

         25  confusion created by the term limits law. An elected
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          2  official serves a full term for purposes of Section

          3  1138 whether he or she resigns or is removed from

          4  office before the term expires. This will prevent

          5  the situation whereby an elected official may do an

          6  end run around the term limits law by leaving office

          7  early, only to run shortly thereafter for the same

          8  office in the next election.

          9                 Our first witness, if you will, will

         10  be Mr. Eric Lane, who will explain the important

         11  question as to why a referendum is not needed for

         12  this legislation which relates to the qualifications

         13  for the Office of Council Member.

         14                 Mr. Lane is a special counsel to

         15  Speaker Gifford Miller, a Hofstra Law School

         16  Professor, and was Executive Director to the Charter

         17  Revision Commission that established the two-year

         18  terms for Council Members.

         19                 Before swearing Mr. Lane in, I want

         20  to acknowledge the members of the Committee, but in

         21  the meantime he can have a seat.

         22                 Starting on my left, immediate left,

         23  the sponsor of this legislation, one of the sponsors

         24  of the legislation, Council Member Leroy Comrie;

         25  Councilwoman Eva Moskowitz; the other prime sponsor
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          2  of the bill, Council Member Oddo; Councilwoman

          3  Provenzano; Council Member Peter Vallone, Jr. Also

          4  Council Member Addabbo, and Council Member Nelson.

          5                 Do you want to make an opening

          6  remark?

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Yes.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Yes, please.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Mr. Chairman,

         10  thank you. I'll be as brief as possible, because I

         11  think you've done a wonderful job in sort of framing

         12  the issue.

         13                 If I may just preface my comments by

         14  saying that I have been and continue to be a

         15  proponent of term limits and that this legislation

         16  doesn't necessarily impact me directly, but I

         17  believe in it so much that along with my good

         18  colleague, Leroy Comrie, I've decided to be a lead

         19  sponsor of it.

         20                 As you said, this is a technical

         21  adjustment that is very narrowly tailored to address

         22  eight Council members that because of redistricting

         23  would have two terms that would only equal six

         24  years, not eight.

         25                 As you said, this is not a broadside
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          2  assault on term limits, this is not an attempt to

          3  repeal term limits, this is not an attempt to

          4  circumvent term limits. I think the Council

          5  leadership has been very clear that any major

          6  alteration of term limits should go back to the

          7  voters. I think that this injects some sanity and

          8  some equity into a quirky law.

          9                 And let me just say this, that we've

         10  heard some folks who were in opposition to this

         11  legislation sort of cloak themselves in the will of

         12  the people. I think the will of the people was

         13  absolutely clear, they wanted their elected

         14  officials to have no more than eight years. And this

         15  certainly does not fly in the face of that.

         16                 I'm a proud member of this body, as a

         17  staff person and as an elected official going into

         18  my 11th year. I have a colleague on my left who is

         19  going into her 16th or 17th year. We believe in this

         20  body, we take a lot of pride in this body, while

         21  sometimes maligned, while sometimes we have some

         22  self-inflicted wounds, if we are to live up to the

         23  mandate of Charter revision and be a legitimate

         24  legislative body, a legitimate check on the

         25  Executive, I think that we should do everything in
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          2  our power to make sure that we have the best Council

          3  possible. Asking eight of the most experienced

          4  members to leave in wake of 38, I think is not the

          5  right thing to do. And I am proud of all of my

          6  colleagues who sign on to this. I think this is in

          7  the best interest of City government, and I thank

          8  you for your leadership on this, Chairman Perkins.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Thank you very

         10  much.

         11                 Council Member Comrie.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: I'm proud to

         13  be a co-sponsor of this legislation with Council

         14  Member Oddo. The first of many collaborative efforts

         15  I think that we will be making to improve the

         16  inequities in government.

         17                 This is a clear unintended inequity

         18  that came as a result of the '93 legislation.

         19                 I also believe that the eight members

         20  that are involved at communities want them to be

         21  able to have the full term, the full opportunity to

         22  serve their communities and their constituencies.

         23                 And also, I believe in the eight

         24  members, and five of those eight members come from

         25  minority districts who would be severely impacted if
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          2  they have to consistently only have six-year terms,

          3  as opposed to eight year terms.

          4                 This is a clear change. It's a clear

          5  inequity. It's a basic piece of legislative

          6  obligation that we have as a Council body to make

          7  sure that this is fixed for the improvement of the

          8  entire body and for the continuity of the body. And

          9  that's basically all this is. This is not an attack

         10  on term limits. This is not an attempt to change the

         11  term limits legislation. Those are discussions for

         12  another day.

         13                 So, anyone that's trying to cloak or

         14  obfuscate exactly what has to go on here, or try to

         15  eliminate legislative authority, is going down the

         16  wrong path at the wrong time on the wrong subject.

         17                 This is clearly just an opportunity

         18  to clear up what should have been cleared up back in

         19  '93. So, I want to commend the members for signing

         20  on. We have many co-sponsors because the members

         21  appreciate the eight members that are here for one,

         22  and they want to clear up this inequity.

         23                 Thank you very much.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Thank you very

         25  much. I just want to take a quick moment to
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          2  acknowledge our Mayor David Dinkins is with us. Also

          3  a former a colleague, Council Member Stephen Fiala.

          4                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Good afternoon,

          5  Mr. Lane. I'm going to swear all witnesses in, as is

          6  customary of this Committee.

          7                 Do you promise that the testimony

          8  you're about to give, and all the answers to

          9  questions you may receive, is the whole truth and

         10  nothing but the truth?

         11                 MR. LANE: I do.

         12                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Okay, please

         13  proceed.

         14                 MR. LANE: But I will say that a lot

         15  of this is legal opinion and the court could prove

         16  me some day a liar. So, I hope I'm not indictable

         17  for mistakes, although I may lose my job.

         18                 I'm actually here, it's a little odd

         19  to probably testify about the law, but I think given

         20  the debate that has ensued from the original

         21  introduction or the beginning discussion of this

         22  particular bill, about the legal power of the

         23  Council, I think it deserves some on-the-record

         24  response so that we have a clear record of the legal

         25  basis and legal framework in which we're operating.
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          2                 So, I'm basically just here to raise

          3  and answer three questions that are not dissimilar

          4  and in fact are similar to the ones that are in the

          5  booklet that you have and that members and people

          6  interested in this bill have been provided.

          7                 The first question deals with the

          8  power of the Council to enact this law itself, and I

          9  think no one would question the ability that this

         10  comes within the Council's home-rule power under the

         11  state constitution and that there's no question that

         12  the Council can pass such an act. So, I think that

         13  question goes without saying.

         14                 Secondly, that power to enact the

         15  statute of this nature is in no way altered by the

         16  fact that the term limits bill, the term limit

         17  provisions in Chapter 50 of the Charter were enacted

         18  by referendum. The fact that there is a referendum

         19  that changes the Charter does not in any way limit

         20  the Council's authority to act on the same topic,

         21  nor as I will explain in a minute through its own

         22  enactment process.

         23                 The second question is, what process

         24  must the Council follow to enact the contemplated

         25  changes that constitute this bill, and my answer to
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          2  that is that they need merely to follow the local

          3  enactment process. Meaning that they have a majority

          4  votes for the bill, the bill gets sent to the Mayor,

          5  the Mayor either signs it or vetoes it, it comes

          6  back, and if he vetoes it, it comes back for an

          7  override. In short, they have no obligation to

          8  submit this bill to referendum at all. And, in fact,

          9  I would add to that that they're without authority

         10  to submit this bill to referendum.

         11                 The law of the State of New York is

         12  that certain subjects, and the law of the State

         13  Charter, of the City Charter, require that certain

         14  subjects be submitted to referendum and certain

         15  subjects be not submitted to referendum but be

         16  locally enacted, and if you're within the subject

         17  that submitted the referendum you must go to

         18  referendum, otherwise you must do it by local law.

         19  Term limits are qualifications for office, and as

         20  such both the highest court of this State and the

         21  Attorney General of this State have opined that they

         22  are not subject to mandatory referendum, and since

         23  they are not mandatory referendum subjects, they may

         24  not. The only way that you can act, the only way the

         25  Council can act on this is by doing it through the
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          2  local enactment process.

          3                 And the final question, which I'm

          4  sure I've covered, but I keep getting this, is once

          5  again, and I'm repeating myself I'm sure, but that

          6  the fact that does any significance have to be

          7  placed legally in the fact that Chapter 50 was added

          8  by referendum, and the answer to that is no. The

          9  State Court of Appeals has said on several occasions

         10  that the fact that something is added by referendum

         11  gives it no special legal significance, and that the

         12  Council can change it through its local enactment

         13  process.

         14                 So, unless you have any other

         15  questions, or need some more clarifications, that's

         16  it.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Councilwoman

         18  Moskowitz.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER MOSKOWITZ: I had a

         20  question about this in the Voting Rights Act. Can

         21  you say anything about what jurisdiction that has,

         22  and whether this change in the qualifications for

         23  office impacts that at all?

         24                 MR. LANE: I think that we will have

         25  to get pre-clearance, we will have to get clearance
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          2  from the Justice Department on that topic, and that

          3  it is subject to the Justice Department's clearance.

          4                 As someone who is the Special Counsel

          5  to the Speaker, and am charged with responsibility

          6  for looking at this issue, I don't anticipate that

          7  this should prove difficult, given the fact that it

          8  probably furthers the interest protected by the

          9  Voting Rights Act, and so I don't anticipate any

         10  problem with that.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Let me just

         12  point out that amongst our witnesses today is the

         13  esteemed lawyer Richard Emery, who will be speaking

         14  to the questions of due process in the Voting Rights

         15  Act, et cetera. So, thank you very much.

         16                 Any other questions?

         17                 Thank you very much, Mr. Lane. And I

         18  want to acknowledge the presence of Councilwoman

         19  Christine Quinn, who has joined us.

         20                 Now we'll have a panel that consists

         21  of our esteemed Mayor David Dinkins, and esteemed

         22  former colleague, Council Member Fiala.

         23                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Good afternoon,

         24  Mayor, Council member. Would you raise your right

         25  hands to be sworn in?
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          2                 Do you each promise the testimony

          3  you're about to give and the questions you will

          4  answer is the whole truth and nothing but the truth?

          5                 MAYOR DINKINS: I do.

          6                 MR. FIALA: I do.

          7                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Thank you.

          8                 Please proceed, Mayor Dinkins.

          9                 MAYOR DINKINS: First let me thank you

         10  for this opportunity. It's always nice to be here on

         11  this side of the hall, and I'm delighted to be here

         12  on this subject.

         13                 I'm pleased that you've had some

         14  legal experts speak, and Richard Emery is yet

         15  another legal expert, but I come really not so much

         16  to talk about the legalities of it, but what I see

         17  as the desirability of the enactment of the bill

         18  proposed.

         19                 I have a very brief statement which

         20  I'll read and be pleased to respond to questions.

         21                 Chairman Perkins, members of the

         22  Council, my Council Member Eva Moskowitz, Committee

         23  Members on Government Operations, I'm here today to

         24  speak about an issue of the utmost importance to New

         25  York City and to our democratic way of government.
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          2                 As you all know, term limits became a

          3  reality in this City when voters passed a referendum

          4  in 1993, limiting elected officials to no more than

          5  eight consecutive years, advocates for term limits

          6  use the phrase "eight is enough" as a rallying cry

          7  for their cause and the people responded favorably.

          8                 But because of a glitche in the term

          9  limits law, some of you, some members of the City

         10  Council, will be able to serve a full eight years,

         11  while others will only be able to serve six.

         12                 This puts hundreds of thousands of

         13  voters throughout the City at an unfair

         14  disadvantage. Unless the term limits glitche is

         15  repaired now, we will have a situation in which

         16  voters in Harlem, for instance, will be prevented

         17  from electing their Council members to the same

         18  length of time as voters in neighboring Washington

         19  Heights.

         20                 This constitutes a prima facie

         21  inequity, I would say, in our term limits system,

         22  and I support the City Council and Speaker Gifford

         23  Miller in their efforts to correct it.

         24                 The bill that you're considering

         25  today offers no challenge whatsoever to the
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          2  fundamental principle which voters endorsed in '93,

          3  and then reaffirmed in '96. The only thing it would

          4  do is to make sure the term limits worked as the

          5  people intended.

          6                 So, I urge you in the strongest

          7  possible terms to support this bill, and I

          8  congratulate this Council of its hard work and

          9  thoughtful work on behalf of the people of this

         10  great City.

         11                 If I might say further, I happen to

         12  be one of those who did not favor term limits, and I

         13  think if we were going to try to alter term limits

         14  in general, that it ought to be done in a different,

         15  but I don't see this as that at all. All you're

         16  trying to do is make things fair for all people, all

         17  members of our Council. And, so, it's not a heavy

         18  lever, as my brother, Congressman Reingall would

         19  say, it does not require a profile in courage to be

         20  in support of this.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Thank you very

         22  much, Mr. Mayor.

         23                 MR. FIALA: Thank you, Chairman

         24  Perkins, Minority Leader Oddo, Council members. I'm

         25  Steve Fiala, I'm a former colleague of some of you,
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          2  and a former Minority Whip of this great

          3  institution. It's nice to be back. I, like the

          4  former Mayor, am not here to speak to the legality

          5  of the issue, but rather it's something that I would

          6  couch as being on moral terms.

          7                 I, obviously, have very strong

          8  opinions on this subject. A little more than a year

          9  ago I sat where you're sitting and I cast the

         10  tie-breaking vote to defeat the term limits repeal

         11  bill. And at that time, I referred to myself as

         12  being a staunch opponent of term limits. I am just

         13  as staunchly against term limits today as I was

         14  then. I call them the antithesis of our democracy. I

         15  argued again as eloquently as I could that term

         16  limits were an abdication of civic responsibility,

         17  that they rob the citizen, the voter, of their

         18  ability and their right to choose.

         19                 They are, I believe, the wrong means

         20  to a just and desirable end, namely better, more

         21  efficient, more honest, more open government.

         22                 I called democracy then "a delicate

         23  balancing act" between a respect for first

         24  principles and process in government.

         25                 I then went on to conclude that the
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          2  means prescribed in redressing the wrong of term

          3  limits were potentially worse, and I voted no. The

          4  rest is history, as illustrated by the new faces in

          5  this Chamber.

          6                 Term limits are wrong. They were

          7  wrong then and I think post-9/11 it should be clear

          8  to so many more individuals that they're even worse

          9  now.

         10                 But the means proscribed in the

         11  repeal bill, namely legislative fiat, were

         12  potentially worse. Such is not the case with the

         13  Comrie/Oddo bill, which simply seeks to rectify a

         14  serious flaw and an inequity under the current law.

         15                 This is precisely the kind of measure

         16  that I believe Edmund Burke, one of those famous

         17  people that I quoted here last year, was talking

         18  about when he said, it should be the role of a

         19  representative to communicate to his constituents,

         20  their wishes ought to have great weight with him,

         21  and I'll add her, their opinions the highest

         22  respect, but his or her unbiased opinion, his mature

         23  judgement, his or her enlightened conscience, your

         24  representative owes you not only his or her

         25  industry, but more importantly, his or her judgment.
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          2  And he or she betrays instead of serving you, if he

          3  or she sacrifices his or her judgment to your

          4  opinion.

          5                 Our best judgment should be that we

          6  conclude today, elected officials and citizens

          7  alike, that if term limits are to exist by the will

          8  of the people in the City, then at the very least

          9  they should exist in a uniform and equitable manner.

         10                 There is something inherently wrong

         11  with a law that allows the people of one section of

         12  Staten Island to elect Steve Fiala for up to six

         13  years, while the people of another section of Staten

         14  Island can elect Jim Oddo up to 11 years.

         15                 There is something inherently

         16  inequitable with a law which allows the people of

         17  one section of the Bronx to elect Madeline

         18  Provenzano for a maximum of six years, while the

         19  people of another section of the Bronx can elect

         20  Joel Rivera for up to 11 years.

         21                 And there is something inherently

         22  unfair with a law which allows the people of one

         23  section of Manhattan to elect Bill Perkins for up to

         24  six years, while the people of another section of

         25  Manhattan can elect Christine Quinn to 11 years.
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          2                 A lot of what you do here is about

          3  justice, it's about debating weighty issues, it is

          4  about trying to determine what is right, what is

          5  fair, what is equitable.

          6                 Hopefully you take each debate, each

          7  issue, and you debate it on its merits, and

          8  hopefully what is just is what you apply to your

          9  decision.

         10                 Your best judgment is what you owe

         11  us, the citizens of New York. You lead by your

         12  decision here.

         13                 I wrap up by saying that I have not

         14  yet met one single person in New York, who

         15  interpreted the original referendum as meaning some

         16  legislators could serve six years, others eight

         17  years and still others 11 years. Not one. And I'd

         18  like to think I'm not an expert on anything, but I'd

         19  like to think on this particular subject I've given

         20  some sufficient thought to be able to make that

         21  statement.

         22                 I've spoken to hundreds of former

         23  constituents, not one -- I voted twice, just as

         24  Mayor Dinkins was opposed to term limits, so was I.

         25  I voted against them twice. I can tell you that
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          2  those that I know that voted for them twice had no

          3  idea that they were voting to have six-, eight-, and

          4  11-year terms.

          5                 This measure simply seeks to right a

          6  wrong, to make something which is inherently unfair,

          7  fair, and in simplest terms, to create one standard

          8  for one City.

          9                 This is one of those rare public

         10  issues where doing what is right is right in front

         11  of you. If I were still here, my best judgment would

         12  have me conclude that I should vote for this measure

         13  as quickly as possible, hope that the Mayor will

         14  sign it as quickly as possible, so that together the

         15  Council and the Mayor could get back to the serious

         16  business of trying to return this City to stability

         17  for the long term.

         18                 John Quincy Adams said, "Posterity,

         19  you will never know how much it has cost my

         20  generation to preserve your freedom. I hope you'll

         21  make good use of it."

         22                 I commend this Council from its

         23  leadership on down for all that you've done since

         24  you've been in office these seven months. You're

         25  certainly doing what you can to make good use of it.
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          2                 I hope that you'll look at this

          3  measure, be guided by your best judgment and vote

          4  aye and help bring some stability back to this City.

          5                 Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Thank you very

          7  much, Mayor Dinkins, and Councilman Fiala.

          8                 James Oddo. Councilman Oddo? No,

          9  okay.

         10                 Let me just for some clarification,

         11  Mr. Mayor, I assume if you were the Mayor you would

         12  sign this bill?

         13                 MAYOR DINKINS: Immediately.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Okay. Just for

         15  the record. Thank you.

         16                 MAYOR DINKINS: Not only would I sign

         17  it immediately, I dare say I would urge the Council

         18  members to all vote in favor of it.

         19                 I don't know whether the Mayor has

         20  spoken to this or not, but I suspect that he knows

         21  what's fair.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Thank you very

         23  much.

         24                 Our next panel will consist of Linda

         25  Stone, from the Citizens Union, Linda Stone
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          2  Davidoff, and Gene Russianoff, NYPIRG. Followed by

          3  Richard Emery, and Megan Quattlebaum.

          4                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Good afternoon.

          5  Would you each raise your right hand.

          6                 Do you promise that the testimony

          7  you're about to give and the answers you're about to

          8  give are the whole truth and nothing but the truth?

          9                 MR. RUSSIANOFF: I do.

         10                 MS. STONE DAVIDOFF: I do.

         11                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Okay, please

         12  proceed as you will.

         13                 MS. STONE DAVIDOFF: Members of the

         14  Council, thank you very much for inviting us to

         15  speak here today.

         16                 I'm here today to speak in favor of

         17  the legislation. As the headline on my testimony

         18  says, there's a difference between sensible, modest

         19  adjustments to reflect the will of the people, and

         20  the wholesale, hasty rush to change, and I want to

         21  just address the context in which we see this bill

         22  being enacted, particularly in light of the coming

         23  of age of this Council.

         24                 One beneficial side effect of the

         25  happenstance of various election terms and the
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          2  interaction of redistricting, reapportionment, and

          3  term limits, is that if you will study the chart,

          4  and I think it's probably a useful chart for

          5  everyone, because I think as Speaker Miller

          6  explained to a group of the civic associations the

          7  other day, nobody is quite sure exactly how many

          8  years in each term of each Council member, and we

          9  have to keep checking. Anyway, there's a very handy

         10  chart in the Searchlight home page of Gotham

         11  Gazette.com, and in thinking about this bill and

         12  deciding to support it, one very substantial side

         13  benefit of the combination of happenstance and of

         14  this bill is that a full quarter of the City Council

         15  will be in effect on staggered terms once this bill

         16  is enacted, and that will have the desirable effect

         17  of not promoting a wholesale turnover of almost 100

         18  percent of the Council in the Year 2009, but instead

         19  a quarter of the institution will be longer in

         20  office and able to serve therefore the stability and

         21  the continuity of the institution.

         22                 So, we agree that the voters intended

         23  eight years as a minimum, we agree that this

         24  enactment simply reflects that, and in effect, by

         25  analogy to a referendum, the legislative history of
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          2  the bill.

          3                 But I do want to say a word about the

          4  context in which the bill is being enacted, and it

          5  seems like from the list of sponsors that have been

          6  assembled will indeed be enacted, even if the Mayor

          7  should not see fit to support it. And that's the

          8  proposed wholesale change in the Charter, in the

          9  governance and the method of electing officers of

         10  this City that are contemplated in the Mayor's

         11  appointment of the Charter Commission, which has

         12  less than eight weeks to read the entire Charter,

         13  decide whether it is called for to replace our

         14  method of electing our highest officers with another

         15  method, to hold hearings to reflect thoughtfully on

         16  what is heard, and then to come back with a proposal

         17  to the voters.

         18                 We hope that in fact the Charter

         19  Commission, that's been named with many

         20  distinguished individual members, will give itself

         21  time, will decide not to present anything this

         22  substantial to the voters this fall. But it seems to

         23  me that even though under the Charter this Council

         24  is not required to be involved in the operations of

         25  a Mayoral Charter Commission, either by commenting
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          2  on it or attempting to direct it in any way, that

          3  the responsibility of this Council, which after the

          4  enactment of this Charter in 1989 now reflects the

          5  will of the people in a broad and representative

          6  fashion which no other arm of government does or

          7  can, should think of itself as having a

          8  responsibility to preserve the democratic

          9  institutions of this City from hasty and

         10  ill-considered change, and should, to the extent

         11  that it's appropriate, both oppose hasty revisions

         12  of our methods of election and campaign against them

         13  if they are found on the ballot this fall.

         14                 So, I thank you hearing us, the

         15  Citizens Union supports this measure, and we look

         16  forward to working with the Council on this and

         17  other matters.

         18                 MR. RUSSIANOFF: Good afternoon, Mr.

         19  Chairman and members of the Committee. I'm Gene

         20  Russianoff with the New York Public Interest

         21  Research Group.

         22                 You have my written statement, I'm

         23  going to be very brief. NYPIRG supports Intro. 238.

         24  We share the views of the bill's 46 sponsors that

         25  limiting some members to six years and others to
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          2  eight serves no real public purpose and

          3  disadvantages many citizens around the City.

          4                 I think a good case has been made

          5  that the 1993 referendum was promoted in a way that

          6  people thought of it as an eight-year limit, and

          7  it's also true that the rest of the City officials

          8  boroughwide and Citywide serve for eight years.

          9                 In 2001 my organization opposed

         10  efforts by the Council to completely repeal the term

         11  limits law by legislation.

         12                 We felt that it was wrong not to go

         13  back to the voters. NYPIRG will continue to oppose

         14  such efforts and we take comfort in the materials

         15  that the Council leadership has put out that say,

         16  and I quote, "Council leadership has decided that

         17  the voters should decide any major change to the

         18  term limits law."

         19                 And I would note in passing that

         20  NYPIRG was studiously and unambiguously neutral on

         21  both the 1993 term limits referendum and the '96

         22  term limits extension referendum.

         23                 Lastly, this bill, Intro. 238, would

         24  prevent all City elected officials, not just Council

         25  members, all City elected officials, from seeking to
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          2  circumvent the term limits law, by resigning towards

          3  the end of their second term and then running for

          4  that same office. That makes sense within the

          5  context of term limits.

          6                 And I appreciate the opportunity to

          7  speak this afternoon. Thank you.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Thank you very

          9  much for your very concise and convincing testimony.

         10  We appreciate your presence and your continued good

         11  work for our City.

         12                 MR. RUSSIANOFF: Thank you.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Now we're going

         14  to hear from attorney Richard Emery.

         15                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Please raise

         16  your right hand to be sworn in.

         17                 Do you promise that the testimony

         18  you're about to give and the answers you give are

         19  the whole truth and nothing but the truth?

         20                 MR. EMERY: Yes, I do.

         21                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Okay, please

         22  proceed, beginning with your name and affiliation.

         23  Thank you.

         24                 MR. EMERY: Richard Emery, partner at

         25  Emery, Kudi, Brinkerhoff and Abady.
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          2                 Thank you, Mr. Chairman, and thank

          3  you, members of the Council for inviting me here

          4  today to speak on this very important change in the

          5  term limits law and in the qualifications for office

          6  law. I appreciate it very much. And I want to

          7  testify and also be available to you for any answers

          8  that I might be able to give you afterwards. I'll be

          9  brief in my testimony for that reason.

         10                 But I do want to preface my testimony

         11  with what I think is a very important point, and

         12  echo Mayor Dinkins and the previous, some of the

         13  previous witnesses, and be very frank with this

         14  Committee, in that I, too, am against term limits as

         15  a matter of principle, as a matter of democracy and

         16  as a matter of individual rights.

         17                 In my view, and I think in the view

         18  of any person who respects democracy for what it

         19  stands for and civil liberties principles, the

         20  disqualification of a public official who was

         21  presumptively qualified to stay in office because he

         22  or she has performed admirably in an office, is a

         23  denial of the right to vote, the most fundamental of

         24  every democratic guarantee in our society. It's a

         25  denial of the right to vote of the citizen who
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          2  wishes for that public official to continue to

          3  represent him or her, and as such it is a violation

          4  of fundamental civil liberties principles that ought

          5  not to be upheld.

          6                 I worry, and this is where I want to

          7  be frank with this Committee, I worry that tinkering

          8  in the way that we are with this term limits, with

          9  the juxtaposition, the anomalies that arise out of

         10  the juxtaposition of Section 25 and Section 1138 of

         11  the Charter, which is what you're doing, somehow can

         12  be taken as some kind of implicit endorsement of

         13  term limits.

         14                 I worry that the literature and

         15  support publicly and in the press for this bill in

         16  order to make it non-controversial, which in fact it

         17  is, and I'm totally behind the bill, but I worry

         18  about the negative implication by saying that it's

         19  not controversial that we somehow are endorsing a

         20  very undemocratic aspect of what was foisted on us

         21  by I think a wealthy politically active person who

         22  decided he was going to finance, what I consider to

         23  be through the means of democracy, an undemocratic

         24  result.

         25                 We had this debate last year and it
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          2  was a very deep-seated and difficult debate, and I

          3  know that many Council members wrestled with this

          4  issue, but I am still very worried about it, and I

          5  must say that I find the disqualification of the

          6  voter of a particular official by a limit on his or

          7  her term to be offensive and to be undermining of

          8  the right to vote.

          9                 There's no logic to it, other than

         10  throw the bums out. To me that's no logic at all,

         11  and that ought not to be the way our City operates,

         12  and our City government operates.

         13                 With Campaign Finance legislation,

         14  with this Council having the new powers granted to

         15  it under the 1990 Charter with the demise of the

         16  Board of Estimate, with the genuine elevation of

         17  this body as a governmental entity, there is a great

         18  attractiveness to running for Council. We saw it in

         19  the last elections. These are now honored offices

         20  with real power and real meaningful authority.

         21                 There will be no shortage of good

         22  candidates to challenge people who were incumbents.

         23  The voters will now have a choice, unlike 1990 and

         24  before 1990. They will have real choices, and

         25  therefore the way to replace Council people is not
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          2  to force them out with term limits but to finance

          3  and make available opportunities for insurgence and

          4  challengers to run, thereby testing the mettle of

          5  the incumbents, requiring that incumbents are

          6  responsive to their constituencies and genuinely

          7  having a vital elective process. That's the way our

          8  country is based, that's the way our state is based

          9  and that's the way our City should aspire to be

         10  based, and we haven't done a good job of that

         11  because we've had this term limits referendum

         12  hoisted on us in a way that I consider both in, some

         13  would say by democratic processes, I would say that

         14  it is an anti-democratic regime that is hoisted on

         15  us through the means of money, which we know plays

         16  an enormous role on the elective process and

         17  sometimes a very deteriorating role.

         18                 With that said, I have one more point

         19  about that larger point. A year or more ago I had a

         20  discussion with Chairman Perkins about this matter,

         21  and we were talking about how unfair this issue is.

         22  I don't know what his current position is, but I

         23  would expect that he is against term limits in

         24  principle also, given the vitality of this body and

         25  the new way that this body is operating.
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          2                 And I at that time offered to him,

          3  and I want to make it clear that I continue to offer

          4  to anyone my services in challenges to the broader

          5  scheme of term limits.

          6                 That is, I think that in any

          7  legislative enterprise or any litigative enterprise,

          8  that members of this Council, and especially voters

          9  who support members of this Council, want to mount

         10  to challenge term limits on the broader basis, I

         11  would like to be involved in that effort. I would

         12  like to help any such voters and any such Council

         13  members. I would attempt to lead such an effort, I

         14  would attempt to support such an effort, and I want

         15  it publicly known so that this Council knows that I

         16  am available to consult with any of you and any of

         17  the people who support you to mount such a challenge

         18  which I think could in fact be successful.

         19                 Now, turning to the more narrow

         20  issue. I heartily support this bill, notwithstanding

         21  the implication that it buys into the term limit

         22  mentality. There's no question that the

         23  disenfranchisement of voters who are represented by

         24  Council members who have six-year terms, as opposed

         25  to the enfranchisement, if you will, of Council
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          2  members who have the potential for 11-year terms, is

          3  an equal protection violation, in my view, and more

          4  fundamentally, it's a First Amendment violation.

          5  It's a lesser First Amendment violation than the one

          6  I just described of term limits in and of itself,

          7  but it is an inequitable term limits restriction and

          8  disqualification on holding office.

          9                 There is no reason why, as previous

         10  testimony has illustrated, particular voters in one

         11  part of the City should have the opportunity to

         12  re-elect people for longer terms and thereby make

         13  their influence available to their constituents and

         14  that opportunity not be available to people in other

         15  parts of the City. There is no logic to it. And it

         16  actually demonstrates once again how ill-conceived

         17  the original term limits referendum was in all its

         18  sloppy aspects, as well as its underlying

         19  principles.

         20                 The voting rights issues are real

         21  here, and I will be happy to answer what I know and

         22  what I can about the voting rights issues. Plainly

         23  there are minority candidates, minority Council

         24  members, who are directly affected by this law, who

         25  represent majority minority districts in the covered
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          2  counties under the Voting Rights Act. And,

          3  therefore, there's no question that there would have

          4  to be pre-clearance, and this adjustment you're

          5  making I think will no doubt pass Justice Department

          6  pre-clearance without any real serious challenge. In

          7  fact, there is the potential for a Voting Rights Act

          8  case, which, again, I would be available to help

          9  support, if not lead, if such an act were not

         10  passed.

         11                 I have made it clear to the

         12  leadership of this Council and others that were this

         13  bill not passed, we would seriously consider

         14  challenging the present scheme and the inequities

         15  inherent in it under the Voting Rights Act,

         16  particularly because it disproportionately affects

         17  minority Council members and their communities, and

         18  majority minority districts in covered jurisdictions

         19  under the Voting Rights Act.

         20                 I think that we should all ascribe to

         21  the principles that the voters should decide how

         22  long and who should represent them.

         23                 I think that they could do that

         24  without setting categories in referenda, they can do

         25  that in every election, whether it be a two-year
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          2  term or a four-year term under Section 25 of the

          3  Charter, by either voting challengers in, or

          4  re-electing the current Council members who are

          5  running for re-election.

          6                 There is one little nitpick I have

          7  with this law that I think the Committee may want to

          8  think about, and it, again, in some sense, involves

          9  a fairness in civil liberties concern.

         10                 I can imagine a situation in which a

         11  Council member felt that he or she was not able to

         12  serve after having been elected, either because they

         13  were unfairly accused of some wrongdoing and they

         14  had to spend all their time, he or she had to spend

         15  all his or her time defending himself and didn't

         16  feel that he or she could represent his or her

         17  constituency, and felt that it was the appropriate

         18  thing to resign and clear one's name, and if that

         19  were affected, and if someone were in that

         20  situation, and did come out of it, and his or her

         21  name was completely cleared, under this bill they

         22  would be considered to have run a full term, even

         23  though they had to resign.

         24                 The same thing could happen for

         25  health reasons. The same thing could happen for a
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          2  number of other personal reasons in someone's life.

          3  I think we should take a good look at the definition

          4  of a full term being constituted by virtue of the

          5  fact, notwithstanding the fact if somebody resigns

          6  or is removed in the early part of the term, I think

          7  there are circumstances where this Council might

          8  well feel that should not constitute a disqualifying

          9  term under this legislation which you are about to

         10  pass as a matter of fairness and equity, and I would

         11  be happy to explain my thinking more if you have

         12  questions on that point, when I conclude, which I'm

         13  about to do.

         14                 I think this bill, this Intro., is a

         15  laudable effort on your part and on the leadership's

         16  part and on the Council's part, to clear up some of

         17  the inequities, it ought to be looked at very

         18  carefully so it does it delicately and in a refined

         19  way, which I think it basically does, we can look at

         20  it a little bit more carefully.

         21                 I think it is part, and an important

         22  part of the ongoing quest of this body to elevate

         23  itself even further in the power of structure of New

         24  York City; and, therefore, I commend it, and I

         25  commend it on behalf of the members of the Council,
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          2  who support it. And I also, and more importantly,

          3  commend it and commend it to the public and the

          4  voters who have the greatest interest in the passage

          5  of this legislation. And I'll be happy and answer

          6  any questions.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Thank you very

          8  much.

          9                 Let me first thank you for your

         10  testimony, and for your generous offer in the past

         11  and continued offer for future consultation with

         12  regard to questions of term limits as it applies to

         13  City government, and in efforts on our part to make

         14  sure that the will of the people is truly

         15  represented.

         16                 And I also remember at the time sort

         17  of an aside that we discussed how we got into this

         18  situation in terms of these two two-year terms,

         19  because of the census and the need to redistrict,

         20  and we will be looking at how we can avoid that in

         21  the future, particularly in terms of the fact that

         22  technology now is available to us as we have seen

         23  done in New Jersey whereby after the census

         24  redistricting can be done within the year, and if we

         25  were able to do the redistricting within the year

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            41

          1  COMMITTEE ON GOVERNMENTAL OPERATIONS

          2  after the census, such as in this case, 2001, then

          3  the elections for City Council could have been done

          4  under new lines in 2001, which then would have

          5  allowed us to have a four-year term and not have to

          6  experience this particular problem.

          7                 MR. EMERY: Right.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: So, we'll be

          9  looking to talking with you some more about that.

         10                 Do you have any thoughts about that?

         11                 MR. EMERY: Well, yes. I mean, if you

         12  could do that it would be an extraordinarily

         13  admirable thing, especially -- and it would set a

         14  wonderful example for the New York State

         15  Legislature, which cannot see its way to do

         16  redistricting in a timely or reasonable manner, and

         17  is rife with paralysis because of the political

         18  partisanship which it inevitably shows every ten

         19  years we're in the middle of these problems that I

         20  think the Council would do well to avoid, and, in

         21  fact, I suspect that in your redistricting process

         22  coming up we'll see none of this kind of awful delay

         23  or paralysis which is prejudicing the current

         24  petitioning period and prejudicing voters' rights

         25  and certainly prejudicing insurgence rights in the
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          2  State legislative process.

          3                 So, I would very much like to support

          4  you, Chairman Perkins, and the rest of the Council,

          5  in helping you with the redistricting process and

          6  trying to organize the terms in a way that makes

          7  sense for the future.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: I'm sure Eric

          9  Lane will be the first to tell you that what we are

         10  proposing is not a very difficult thing, because in

         11  '91 the Charter Commission actually did have the

         12  new Councilmanic lines drawn in time for an election

         13  that would be a four-year term.

         14                 So, thank you very much. I think we

         15  have a question from Council Member Eva Moskowitz.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER MOSKOWITZ: Thank you,

         17  Mr. Chair. And I just have a brief comment.

         18                 First and foremost, thank you, Mr.

         19  Emery, for your testimony.

         20                 MR. EMERY: Thank you.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER MOSKOWITZ: I have

         22  enormous respect for the legal work that you do on

         23  behalf of civil rights. But I do have a need to

         24  disagree strongly with one of our comments. You

         25  indicated that you found a pro-term limit position
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          2  offensive, and I do think it's important to note to

          3  the public record many thoughtful people who are

          4  very concerned with democracy, including the fact

          5  that 98 percent of incumbents get re-elected, as

          6  someone who has challenged an incumbent and knows

          7  how difficult the odds are, even if you are a good,

          8  hard-working candidate who is thoughtful on the

          9  issues, I think there are two sides to this debate.

         10  After many, many years, I came to the position that

         11  I am for term limits. I first tried to go the

         12  Campaign Finance route, because I thought that was a

         13  more sensible way. But we have a model Campaign

         14  Finance Program in the City of New York, as you

         15  know, and still the imbalance between incumbents and

         16  challengers was not resolved.

         17                 I also think, and I realize we're not

         18  here to discuss that, but I also think that the

         19  energy and commitment of my new colleagues is

         20  testimony to some of the positive benefits that term

         21  limits can bring.

         22                 So, I think it's a complicated issue,

         23  and we, of course, should continue to have a full

         24  and thorough debate on that, but I just didn't want

         25  the opposite side belittled because I think that
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          2  many people who support term limits, and I don't

          3  question your argument about the way this particular

          4  law was done, you can't support Campaign Finance and

          5  support the louder effort in particular, but I think

          6  it's a complicated issue and I wouldn't want it to

          7  fall in a kind of reductionist argument.

          8                 Thank you very much, Chairman

          9  Perkins.

         10                 MS. EMERY: Well, just one brief

         11  comment, and I would say that I want to invite you

         12  to come to me when you're nearing the end of your

         13  last term, so we can talk about this again, when you

         14  have five or six very important things you want to

         15  do and you find the constituency you represent

         16  really wants you to do them.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER MOSKOWITZ: I resent

         18  that particular comment, because I understand term

         19  limits, I supported it. I do not think that my

         20  personal, we all have personal ambitions, will in

         21  any way get in the way of my determination of what

         22  is right and fair. So, I don't think the suggestion

         23  is fair, but thank you.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Thank you very

         25  much, Councilwoman Eva Moskowitz, and Mr. Emery, for
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          2  your testimony and for your dialogue, and for your

          3  continued work in the civil rights area and your

          4  continued generosity to be available to address

          5  these types of issues.

          6                 Thank you.

          7                 MR. EMERY: Thank you, Chairman.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Let me say that

          9  up til now we have heard supporters of this

         10  particular legislation, particularly from the civil

         11  rights point of view, from the good government point

         12  of view, from the legal point of view, but there are

         13  those who have a different point of view, and I'd

         14  like at this point to ask that Ms. Cathy Stewart,

         15  from the Independence Party of New York County,

         16  please come forward.

         17                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Would you

         18  please raise your right hand to be sworn in?

         19                 MS. STEWART: Yes.

         20                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Do you promise

         21  that the testimony you're about to give and answers

         22  you are about to give is the whole truth and nothing

         23  but the truth?

         24                 MS. STEWART: I do.

         25                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Thank you.
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          2                 For the record, could you please

          3  proceed, beginning with your name and affiliation.

          4                 Thank you.

          5                 MS. STEWART: Thank you.

          6                 Good afternoon. My name is Cathy

          7  Stewart, and I'm the Chairperson of the New York

          8  County Independence Party. I want to thank the

          9  Committee for giving me the opportunity to speak to

         10  you today.

         11                 For the second time in two years, the

         12  City Council has before it a proposal to alter the

         13  term limits law that was enacted in a referendum by

         14  a significant majority of City voters in 1993.

         15                 In my view, the fundamental issue at

         16  hand is whether it is proper for the City Council to

         17  alter a law that was passed by referendum, without

         18  the alteration being submitted to the voters for

         19  ratification.

         20                 Last year the Council wisely backed

         21  away from enacting a law that would have, in my

         22  opinion, and the opinion of many citizens who spoke

         23  out against it, undermined the term limits enacted

         24  by the voters.

         25                 This year the Council seeks to remedy
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          2  an aspect of the law that the voters may not have

          3  anticipated and further that they may well consider

          4  consistent with their intent in imposing term

          5  limits.

          6                 Were it not for the process issue,

          7  the independence party would likely support the

          8  remedial legislation.

          9                 However, the process issue is

         10  troubling. While I respect the opinion of Counsel

         11  Lane in saying that there's no legal significance to

         12  the fact that term limits was enacted through the

         13  referendum process, I do think it has a certain

         14  moral significance that the Council needs to take

         15  into consideration.

         16                 Can the Council, even for the most

         17  well-intentioned reasons, alter legislation enacted

         18  by the people through initiative and referendum?

         19                 Can the Council presume that this is

         20  what the voters would do if the issue were before

         21  them again? And based on that assumption, avoid

         22  bringing the matter back to the voters for

         23  consideration.

         24                 I do not believe that you should.

         25                 What's more, the failure to bring the
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          2  matter before the voters creates the appearance that

          3  the City Council is acting in its own self-interest,

          4  whatever your intentions may be.

          5                 I believe there is a way to solve the

          6  process problem, and I would urge the Council to

          7  consider it.

          8                 This past week, Mayor Bloomberg

          9  appointed a 13-member Charter Revision Commission

         10  with power to place before the voters in the

         11  November election amendments to the City Charter.

         12                 The Mayor has indicated that he will

         13  ask the Commission to consider the implementation of

         14  nonpartisan municipal elections for City government.

         15                 He will ask as well that it consider

         16  a change in how a new Mayor is chosen in the event

         17  that a sitting Mayor is unable to serve out his or

         18  her full term.

         19                 The former proposal, nonpartisan

         20  municipal elections, is a far reaching one, which

         21  will surely engender serious discussion on the

         22  nature of City government, and the role of political

         23  parties. This is healthy for a democracy such as

         24  ours.

         25                 The latter, mayoral succession, while
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          2  not unimportant, has already shown itself to be the

          3  subject of partisan bickering and accusations of

          4  political payback.

          5                 Further, it is, in my opinion, not an

          6  issue about which voters are likely to have strong

          7  opinions. Indeed, it is remedial in nature, not

          8  unlike the proposal now before the Council

          9  concerning term limits.

         10                 There is a way to move forward. I

         11  call upon Speaker Miller, the Government Operations

         12  Committee and the Council to withdraw the proposed

         13  legislation on term limits, and to instead ask the

         14  Charter Revision Commission, whose proposals must be

         15  approved by the voters, to consider the remedial

         16  action the Council seeks to take regarding term

         17  limits.

         18                 Further, I call on Mayor Bloomberg to

         19  defer his mayoral succession proposal and not place

         20  it before the Charter Revision Commission.

         21                 These moves would accomplish two

         22  important things:

         23                 1) it will help ensure that the

         24  debate on nonpartisan municipal elections not be

         25  sidetracked by partisan bickering over mayoral
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          2  succession.

          3                 2) It will demonstrate the Council's

          4  respect for the will of the voters, and for that

          5  matter, the intelligence of the voters regarding

          6  term limits.

          7                 This will establish an important

          8  precedence regarding the process by which Charter

          9  provisions adopted by referendum can be changed.

         10                 In fact, the new Commission may want

         11  to consider addressing this issue as well.

         12                 Finally, the approach I am suggesting

         13  would make a statement to the citizens of New York

         14  City that its governing officials, legislative and

         15  executive, are committed to substantive debate on

         16  matters of public policy, and that they fully

         17  respect the democratic process.

         18                 Thank you.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Councilman

         20  Nelson.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON: Yes, I think

         22  basically what this, probably this whole meeting

         23  today is about to a degree is really confusion about

         24  what people really were voting for. Term limits

         25  literally seems obvious in face value, but today's
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          2  meeting really shoots that full of holes. I think if

          3  you would ask ten New Yorkers in any intersection in

          4  this City, it would be like a Jay Leno skit, what do

          5  you know about term limits? How many years can

          6  somebody serve? And hence, this is what this, I

          7  believe, is all about. I mean, in my case I think

          8  they offer a lot of credibility. It's a personal

          9  liability to me if this happens to work out. Again,

         10  I'm a sponsor of it, because I believe it is the

         11  right thing to do.

         12                 It sets me back two years, I would be

         13  number one in seniority. This didn't come about. So,

         14  it certainly doesn't help me any, I could tell you

         15  that. But it would be I think the wrong thing

         16  overall for me to try to fight against this, and I

         17  wouldn't. In all good consciousness I could not do

         18  that.

         19                 So, anyway, I think based upon

         20  everything, I do believe, presume of course is a

         21  strong word, I think you, I, I think every human

         22  being has to presume at least once a day on

         23  something, simply because we do not know everything,

         24  but I would bet a lot of good money that when New

         25  Yorkers voted for this, and in fact, I think it was
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          2  one-third of the voters came out to vote in the

          3  first place, and I think two-thirds of them voted

          4  for term limits, and you do the math, it was a very

          5  small amount. And out of that, I bet you most of

          6  them, if they knew how many years it was, they

          7  probably thought it would be the same thing for

          8  everybody.

          9                 Hence, I think that this is the right

         10  way to go. Thank you. Mr. Chair, thank you.

         11                 MS. STEWART: Thank you. I appreciate

         12  the Council Member's comments. I think one thing to

         13  say about it is I think the voters in New York City

         14  are very aware of term limits, after all they passed

         15  it twice. It's not an issue that didn't receive a

         16  lot of public attention.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON: I'd agree

         18  literally they understand term limits, right.

         19                 MS. STEWART: I think, just to build

         20  on what you're saying, there is confusion. I do not

         21  believe the voters understood how this would impact,

         22  given the way redistricting has to be conducting.

         23                 That's why I'm arguing that there is

         24  a process that would put that squarely back before

         25  the voters and involve them in affirming the work
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          2  the Council has done to find a solution to close the

          3  loophole that surely they didn't attend and to deal

          4  with the way redistricting impacts.

          5                 I think the concern that we have at

          6  the Independence Party is often, and I think this is

          7  why voters voted for term limits, they feel

          8  disconnected from the processes. And I think it

          9  could have a dampening effect, to have them not be

         10  able to be involved as a partner in reshaping

         11  something that they, themselves, put into law.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Thank you very

         13  much for your testimony. I appreciate your

         14  attendance.

         15                 Next we'll hear from another panel,

         16  consisting of representatives from the business

         17  community, as well as representatives from the labor

         18  community.

         19                 Representing labor is Mr. Richard

         20  Ungar, and from the New York City Partnership,

         21  Kathryn Wylde.

         22                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Good afternoon.

         23  Would you each raise your right hand to be sworn in?

         24                 Do you promise that the testimony

         25  you're about to give and the questions you're about
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          2  to answer are the whole truth and nothing but the

          3  truth?

          4                 MR. UNGAR: I do.

          5                 MS. WYLDE: Yes.

          6                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Thank you.

          7  Proceed as you will, beginning with stating your

          8  name and affiliation for the record.

          9                 Thank you very much.

         10                 MS. WYLDE: Thank you, Chairman

         11  Perkins, and members of the Committee. My name is

         12  Kathryn Wylde, I'm President of the New York City

         13  Partnership. I'm here to testify on behalf of Intro.

         14  238 and in support of the amendment to the City law

         15  with regard to qualification for Council Members.

         16                 The Partnership agrees that it is

         17  entirely fair and appropriate to make this amendment

         18  reflecting what we do believe the voters assumed

         19  when they supported term limits.

         20                 In the wake of the September 11th

         21  attack, and the fiscal crisis that the City faces,

         22  we think its particularly important that issues that

         23  can be distractions from the business at hand are

         24  dealt with immediately and directly, and I think the

         25  approach you're taking to this issue makes a lot of
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          2  sense.

          3                 Most members of the business

          4  community support term limits and we certainly have

          5  in the past. The six-year cap on the terms of some

          6  members, however, is unfair and could generate undue

          7  pressure for precipitous or ill-considered action.

          8                 In a recent op ed piece, the

          9  President of the Idaho Association of Commerce and

         10  Industry, a business advocacy group in a state which

         11  is also seeking amendments in their term limits

         12  laws, explained the business community's concern

         13  with term limits this way: He writes, "every

         14  business is directly affected by the law's rules and

         15  policies or other actions of some body of

         16  government, when those officials have some expertise

         17  and experience, they make better decisions.

         18                 We believe the New York City Council

         19  will make better decisions when its members have a

         20  full eight year in which to study, deliberate and

         21  take actions that affect all of our future.

         22                 We feel the Council has an important

         23  role to play in the serious challenges before us,

         24  that it makes sense to clarify the term limits law

         25  quickly, and without the exercise of a referendum so
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          2  that we may put this matter behind us.

          3                 Thank you.

          4                 MR. UNGAR: Good afternoon. My name is

          5  Robert Ungar, and thank you, members of the

          6  Committee, Mr. Chair, for giving me a few minutes to

          7  talk about some labor point of view on Intro. 238.

          8                 Probably the longest part of my

          9  testimony will be to tell you whom I'm representing

         10  here today, and then I'll try to keep it brief after

         11  that.

         12                 I'm here representing the Uniformed

         13  EMTs and Paramedics in the Fire Department; the

         14  Uniformed EMS Officers Association in the Fire

         15  Department; the Fire Alarm Dispatchers Benevolent

         16  Association; the Assistant Deputy Wardens and Deputy

         17  Wardens Association in the Department of

         18  Corrections; the Fire Inspectors of Local 375; Local

         19  983 of DC 37, which represents Parks Department

         20  employees, Motor Vehicle operators and highway

         21  workers in New York City; representing the New York

         22  City Building and Construction Trades Council with

         23  over 100,000 AFL-CIO construction workers in New

         24  York City, Ed Malloy is president of that group. I'm

         25  here representing the Civil Service Merit Council,
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          2  which is a watchdog organization that kind of keeps

          3  an eye on abuses in the merit system in New York

          4  City. I'm representing the Uniformed Public Safety

          5  Coalition, a group of uniformed unions providing

          6  public safety services here in the City of New York;

          7  Local 371 of the Social Services Employees Union,

          8  Charles Ensley, President; Local 246 of the Service

          9  Employees International, which is all the automotive

         10  and mechanical titles in City Government, Jack

         11  Freedman is the President; and, lastly, Local 1549

         12  of DC 37, the clerical and administrative employees,

         13  18,000 members, City employees, Ed Rodriguez,

         14  President.

         15                 That's who I'm here for today. On the

         16  management side I'm representing the New York City

         17  Building Trades Employers Association, Lou Colletti,

         18  Chairman.

         19                 Here's our position, it's pretty

         20  simple. You've heard from lawyers today, and it's

         21  nice to sit at the table with the business community

         22  today and be on the same side. We think you've done

         23  the right thing here. We think that it's being done

         24  the right way. There's an absolute need to get this

         25  done. It has to happen now because the inequities
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          2  that the current law would cause to take place will

          3  be taking place soon.

          4                 There is no time for these issues to

          5  become enveloped in the political haranguing that

          6  will undoubtedly take place if we went any other

          7  way, other than by legislative adjustment.

          8                 The 13 years I've been working on

          9  legislation in Albany and New York City, laws are

         10  passed and glitches happen. When new things are

         11  tried, you find out a year later, woops, drafting

         12  problem, something we didn't anticipate comes up,

         13  and there is a need for corrective action. That's

         14  what makes laws work. If we can't correct the

         15  glitches, then they stay in the system, and forever

         16  there would be an inequity created here by having

         17  some terms of six years, some terms of eight years,

         18  which in fact will deprive certain communities of

         19  the City, some communities which are most in need of

         20  the seniority that comes with a full eight-year

         21  term, a consistency of representation.

         22                 Communities that are

         23  socioeconomically disadvantaged in the City, that

         24  really don't need to have their Council member

         25  disappear after six years and never reach full
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          2  seniority, also we don't need to lose people with

          3  seniority who have been here for awhile, and know

          4  how the place works and can get things done for

          5  their communities.

          6                 So, as working people view this, the

          7  current law deprives a lot of our members of the

          8  opportunity to have the full benefit of the Council

          9  members that they've elected. We think, at least the

         10  folks that I represent here today, think that that's

         11  grossly unfair, not just to the constituents in

         12  those districts, but also to this body, because we

         13  feel that you need the consistency, you need to know

         14  that when you are elected you're going to be here

         15  and start and finish with your colleagues and be

         16  able to depend on having the same length of time of

         17  service and not be deprived, whether it's any 20

         18  years, every eight years, every four years. The

         19  system as it's set up now is just not fair.

         20                 So, on behalf of all of the

         21  organizations that I'm here representing today, we

         22  strong support you, we will defend you if called

         23  upon to do so down the road on this item, and we

         24  thank you for taking decisive action, we thank the

         25  sponsors of the bill and the Speaker and all of the
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          2  members how have had the courage to step forward on

          3  this and just say it's wrong and we need to fix it.

          4                 Thank you.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Thank you both

          6  very. There are no questions from the members. We

          7  just want you to know how much we appreciate the

          8  fact that you've come forward and shed your support.

          9                 It's good to see labor and business

         10  together with the Council. So much can be done with

         11  that kind of coalition. Look forward to seeing it

         12  manifest, in terms of legislation in the future.

         13                 Thank you.

         14                 MR. UNGAR: Mr. Chairman, I'm sorry, I

         15  was remiss in saying that the President of one of

         16  those unions is sitting in the room today, Patrick

         17  Bahnken is the President of the Uniformed EMTs and

         18  Paramedics, in the New York City Fire Department,

         19  and he came over to show his support today as well.

         20                 Thank you.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Thank you very

         22  much for being here and for what you do for our

         23  City, as well.

         24                 I want to call forward from the City

         25  Project, Inc., Bonnie Brower, as well as from Common
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          2  Cause, Megan Quattlebaum.

          3                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Good afternoon.

          4  Would you each raise your right hands to be sworn

          5  in?

          6                 Do you promise that the testimony

          7  you're about to give, as well as the answers that

          8  you give to this Committee, are the whole truth and

          9  nothing but the truth?

         10                 MS. QUATTLEBAUM: Yes.

         11                 MS. BROWER: I do.

         12                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Thank you.

         13                 Please proceed as you will, beginning

         14  with your name and affiliation for the record. Thank

         15  you.

         16                 If the button is off, that means the

         17  mic is on.

         18                 MS. BROWER: My name is Bonnie Brower,

         19  I am Executive Director of City Project. City

         20  Project is an independent non-profit organization

         21  that does policy advocacy, education and technical

         22  assistance around New York City's budget and other

         23  economic and fiscal issues.

         24                 I would like to thank the Chair and

         25  the Committee today for the opportunity to testify.
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          2                 City Project's organizational mission

          3  is to ensure that the City's budget, as well as its

          4  economic and fiscal policies truly serve the needs

          5  of New York residents and communities specifically

          6  poor, working class and middle class and minority

          7  residents in communities who may lack the wealth or

          8  clout to have their voices heard.

          9                 It's from this perspective that we

         10  testify in support of Intro. 238.

         11                 Our primary concern about the

         12  existing term anomalies affecting eight current

         13  Council members and future recurrence of the

         14  anomalies created by the clash between term limits

         15  and the census redistricting frankly relates to the

         16  rights and powers of the residents of the affected

         17  communities. With all respect to the eight Council

         18  members who are personally and directly affected,

         19  many of whom we, City Project has worked very

         20  closely with, the issue, the fundamental issue at

         21  stake here is not their individual ability to serve

         22  two full four-year terms.  From our perspective, the

         23  major and overriding fundamental public policy issue

         24  that requires an immediate albeit modest remedy is

         25  the grossly unfair and inequitable disadvantage that
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          2  is being imposed on the residents of these

          3  districts, a disadvantage that prevents them from

          4  having their representative serve a full eight years

          5  as all other New Yorkers can.

          6                 The fact that five of the affected

          7  Council members are minorities and that four of

          8  their districts are majority minority districts,

          9  makes this disparity even more compelling and more

         10  urgent to fix, which we think the proposed local law

         11  will do.

         12                 Although the actual language of the

         13  term limits referendum did state that the two full

         14  consecutive terms for Council members included, "at

         15  least one full four-year term," we agree with the

         16  material that the Council has prepared that both the

         17  intent of the referendum sponsors, as well as, more

         18  importantly, the understanding of the voters, was

         19  that Council members, along with all other elected

         20  City officials, could be elected to serve two full

         21  four-year terms for a total of eight years.

         22                 Accordingly, we think the proposed

         23  legislation is both proper and necessary to cure the

         24  unfair disadvantage that now exists for voters from

         25  eight districts.
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          2                 And I would just also like to say

          3  that we believe that the narrow and technical

          4  proposed changes of Intro. 238 far from repealing

          5  the will of the voters that was reflected in the

          6  referendum, the term limits referendum, will

          7  actually enhance, and as importantly equalize, the

          8  powers and rights of New York City voters.

          9                 Thank you.

         10                 MS. QUATTLEBAUM: Hi. My name is Megan

         11  Quattlebaum, I am here representing Common Cause New

         12  York, and I'm going to be very, very brief, you have

         13  my written statement.

         14                 Common Cause New York supports Intro.

         15  238, which has been introduced to address anomalies

         16  in the City's term limit law. Common Cause agrees

         17  with Intro. 238's 46 sponsors that limiting some

         18  Council members to six years and others to eight,

         19  "disadvantages the citizens of those districts

         20  represented by members of shorter terms."

         21                 We share the view that this is an

         22  unintended consequence of the term limits law, and

         23  we do not believe that it serves any positive public

         24  purpose.

         25                 The sponsors also make a good point
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          2  when they note that voters who supported the '93

          3  referendum voted for a law that was advertised as a

          4  way to limit City officials to eight years in

          5  office. It is clear with the use of slogans such as

          6  "eight years is enough," which make no reference,

          7  obviously, to the possibility for a six-year limit.

          8                 Common Cause did originally oppose

          9  the imposition of term limits in 1993, but after the

         10  referendum of 1993 and 1996, we've become staunt

         11  supporters of the clear will of the people as

         12  expressed by their votes in those referenda.

         13                 We made this stance clear in 2001

         14  when we opposed City Council efforts to repeal term

         15  limits by legislation and therein circumvent the

         16  will of the people.

         17                 One last note, in our continued

         18  support of New York City voters, we would caution

         19  the City Council not to push for a hasty decision on

         20  Intro. 238. The bill was only introduced five days

         21  ago on July 10th, and the public deserves and

         22  requires a meaningful period for comment before any

         23  decision is made.

         24                 Thank you.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Thank you very
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          2  much.

          3                 This is our last panel, and I

          4  appreciate the fact that you have been patient

          5  enough to wait and to share with us your concern and

          6  your support for Intro. 238.

          7                 Let me conclude this hearing by

          8  making the following observation:

          9                 First of all, Intro. 238 is an effort

         10  to mend, not end, term limits. It's an effort to

         11  acknowledge the spirit and the intent of the voters

         12  when term limits was enacted but in recognition that

         13  that spirit and intent were not actually embodied in

         14  the ultimate law that was passed, and, so, on behalf

         15  of the constituents of eight districts, we are

         16  introducing Intro. 238 to address anomalies in the

         17  City's term limits law.

         18                 Today we've heard from supporters in

         19  good government, in the legal and civil rights

         20  community, in the business and labor community. We

         21  have received endorsements from the New York Times,

         22  the Amsterdam News, Daily News, Newsday. We've heard

         23  from the opposition, particularly the Independence

         24  Party, and we know that there has been some

         25  editorial from the New York Post opposed.
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          1  COMMITTEE ON GOVERNMENTAL OPERATIONS

          2                 There will be a second hearing at

          3  which time there will be a vote, and we look forward

          4  to the public's participation once again. We want to

          5  thank the Committee members for their attendance. I

          6  want to thank Janet Ford and the staff for the work

          7  that they have done to prepare for this particular

          8  hearing.

          9                 Thank you very much. Unless there is

         10  some other matter, this meeting is adjourned.

         11                 (Hearing concluded at 2:40 p.m.)
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          1

          2              CERTIFICATION

          3

          4

          5     STATE OF NEW YORK   )

          6     COUNTY OF NEW YORK  )

          7

          8

          9                 I, CINDY MILLELOT, a Certified

         10  Shorthand Reporter and Notary Public in and for the

         11  State of New York, do hereby certify that the

         12  foregoing is a true and accurate transcript of the

         13  within proceeding.

         14                 I further certify that I am not

         15  related to any of the parties to this action by

         16  blood or marriage, and that I am in no way

         17  interested in the outcome of this matter.

         18                 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto

         19  set my hand this 15th day of July 2002.
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         23

         24

                                   ---------------------

         25                          CINDY MILLELOT, CSR.
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          1

          2             C E R T I F I C A T I O N

          3
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          5

          6

          7

          8

          9            I, CINDY MILLELOT, a Certified Shorthand

         10  Reporter and a Notary Public in and for the State of

         11  New York, do hereby certify the aforesaid to be a

         12  true and accurate copy of the transcription of the

         13  audio tapes of this hearing.
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                              CINDY MILLELOT, CSR.
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